SEP 28 2018

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

KERRIE REILLY
Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

MARIN HOUSING AUTHORITY Defendant and Respondent.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District, Division Two, No. A149918

Affirming a Judgment of the Superior Court of Marin County Case No. CIV 1503896, Honorable Paul M. Haakenson, Judge

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Autumn M. Elliott
Disability Rights California
350 S. Bixel Street, Ste. 290
Los Angeles, CA 90017
(213) 213-8000
(213) 213-8001 Fax
Attorneys for Petitioner and Appellant Kerrie Reilly

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Local housing authorities calculate rent for people living in HUD subsidized housing based on their income. 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) prohibits counting as income "[a]mounts paid by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home." California's In-Home Supportive Services program pays family members for services they provide to keep people with developmental disabilities in their homes. Are these payments excluded as income pursuant to Section 5.609(c)(16)?

INTRODUCTION

It is no small thing to commit to providing care and monitoring of a person with a severe developmental disability. It requires the sacrifice of other interests and pursuits to dedicate one's own labor to caring for a family member rather than place her in an institution. California's In-Home Supportive Services program assists families who nonetheless do so, and these State payments offset – though only partially – the very real costs to the rest of family.

The plain language of 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16), the regulation governing the calculation of "annual income" for families participating in federal housing subsidy programs, makes clear that the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") intended to exclude payments from a State to offset the costs to a family of caring for a family member with a developmental disability at home. It did not intend to limit the exclusion to reimbursement of a family's out-of-pocket expenses or other money owed by the family. HUD included phrases such as "reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses" in other portions of the regulation, but did not

do so in 24 C.F.R. § 5.609 (c)(16), indicating that no such limited meaning was intended.

The regulation at issue in this case provides that public housing authorities must exclude payments made to family caregivers of individuals with developmental disabilities from a family's "annual income" calculation. The regulation itself demonstrates that this exclusion is one of many instances in which HUD has chosen to exclude a particular type of payment to families in order to avoid reducing the effectiveness of a specific public policy effort – in this case, protecting the ability of people with developmental disabilities to live at home with their families.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

Developmental disabilities are life-long mental or physical impairments that arise in childhood. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, ("DSM-V") p.33 (Am. Psychiatric Ass'n 5th ed.) (2013); Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 4512(a). People with developmental disabilities have particular difficulty in intellectual functioning and adaptive functioning, such as communication, social participation and independent living. DSM-V at 33; Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 4512(*l*)(1).

Petitioner Kerrie Reilly lives with her adult daughter, who has a "severe developmental disability, such that she requires constant supervision." *Reilly v. Marin Hous. Auth.*, A149918, Slip Opinion at 1 (Cal. Ct. App. April 25, 2018) ("*Reilly*"). That "constant supervision" and care is provided on a daily basis by Ms. Reilly herself. *Id*.

Ms. Reilly and her daughter "participate in a state social services program designed to help incapacitated persons avoid institutionalization": the State of California's In-Home Supportive Services program. *Reilly* at 1; Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12300(a); *Miller v. Woods*, 148 Cal.App.3d 862,

867 (1983) (recognizing that the purpose of In-Home Supportive Services is "to enable [the] aged, blind or disabled poor to avoid institutionalization by remaining in their homes with proper supportive services."). Through that program, the State makes payments for particular supportive services (such as bathing, oral hygiene, and grooming) for people who are unable to perform those services themselves and who cannot safely remain in their homes unless those services are provided. Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12300. The State pays the person providing the service, whether they are a family member or a third party, directly. *Reilly* at 5.

In order for a person to be deemed eligible for In-Home Supportive Services, a licensed health care professional must certify that the person "is unable to perform some activities of daily living independently, and that without services to assist him or her with activities of daily living, the applicant or recipient is at risk of placement in out-of-home care." Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12309.1. Local county social services departments then make a comprehensive assessment of applicants' need for In-Home Supportive Services in order to avoid being placed in an institution. Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code §§ 12309, 12309.1. The needs of people receiving In-Home Supportive Services are re-assessed at least once every twelve months. Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12301.1(b)(1).

Local social services departments authorize the individuals they find to be at risk of institutionalization to receive services. Cal. Dep't Soc. Serv.'s Manual of Policies and Procedures¹ § 30-761 (providing that

¹ The In-Home Supportive Services regulations implementing the relevant provisions of the Welfare and Institutions Code are found in Division 30, Chapter 30-700 of the California Department of Social Services' Manual of

"Services shall only be authorized when ... [a] needs assessment establishes a need for the services ... [and] ... [p]erformance of the service by the recipient would constitute such a threat to his/her health/safety that he/she would be unable to remain in his/her home."). The precise number of hours of services a particular individual may receive are based on California Department of Social Services' hourly task guidelines. Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12301.2. When a person needs constant supervision (as is the case with Ms. Reilly's daughter), payments for "protective supervision" may be authorized after review of all of the evidence regarding the need for protective supervision, including a physician's certification of the need for constant supervision. Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12301.21; Cal. Dep't Soc. Serv.'s Manual of Policies and Procedures § 30-757.173 (authorizing protective supervision where "a need exists for twenty-four-hours-a-day of supervision in order for the recipient to remain at home safely").

As the Court of Appeal acknowledged, the In-Home Supportive Services program will pay families for up to 65 hours per week in attendant care. *Reilly* at 5; Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 12303.4(b) (providing that the maximum number of hours a provider can receive for someone requiring "Protective Supervision" is 283 hours per month). To qualify for Protective Supervision, a recipient must have a primary caregiver, generally a family member such as Ms. Reilly, who will sign a form promising to provide a "continuous 24-hour-a-day coverage plan" that must "be met regardless of paid In-Home Supportive Service (IHSS) hours." Cal. Dep't Soc. Serv.'s

Policies and Procedures, available at http://www.cdss.ca.gov/inforesources/Letters-Regulations/Legislation-and-Regulations/Adult-Services-Regulations (last visited September 28, 2018).

Form SOC 825,

http://www.cdss.ca.gov/cdssweb/entres/forms/English/soc825.pdf (last visited September 28, 2018). The form also requires the caregiver to acknowledge that a social worker has discussed the "appropriateness of out-of-home care as an alternative to 24-hour-a-day Protective Supervision." In other words, a family receiving these funds must commit to ensuring that their family member will receive round-the-clock supervision, even though the vast majority of those hours are uncompensated.

The rent for the apartment where Ms. Reilly and her daughter live is subsidized through the federal Housing Choice Voucher program. *Reilly* at 1. Local public housing authorities receive funding from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") and administer the Housing Choice Voucher program (commonly referred to as "Section 8") for each locality. 24 C.F.R. § 982.1(a). The Marin Housing Authority, the Respondent in this matter, administers the voucher subsidizing Ms. Reilly and her daughter's apartment. *Reilly* at 1.

In the Housing Choice Voucher program, the portion of the rent paid by the family varies depending on the family's income. "[T]he family generally pays 30 percent of adjusted monthly income in rent." 24 C.F.R. § 982.1(a)(3). HUD regulations define what funds coming into the household are included and what are excluded from a family's "annual and adjusted income" for this purpose. 24 C.F.R. § 5.601 et seq.

Among other exclusions, the regulations provide that "[a]mounts paid by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home" are excluded from the definition of "annual income." 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16).

This provision is referred to throughout Petitioner's Opening Brief interchangeably as 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) or as "the developmental disability State payments exclusion."

Notwithstanding the language of 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16), the Marin Housing Authority included the payments that Ms. Reilly received from the State of California to care for her daughter through the In-Home Supportive Services program in calculating her "annual income," and the household's rent level reflected those payments. *Reilly* at 2-3. Ms. Reilly asked the Marin Housing Authority to recalculate her rent and rectify its past failure to exclude the In-Home Supportive Services payments by letter dated April 7. 2015. *Id.* at 2. The Marin Housing Authority refused to do so, and instead moved forward with proceedings to terminate the Reilly family's housing voucher. *Id.* at 2-3.

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 26, 2015, Ms. Reilly filed a petition for writ of mandate to compel the Marin Housing Authority to exclude the payments from the State's In-Home Supportive Services program from the housing authority's calculation of the household's annual income. *Reilly* at 3. The Superior Court upheld Marin Housing Authority's demurrer to the writ petition, holding that Ms. Reilly's interpretation of the developmental disability State payments exclusion was "wrong as a matter of law." *Id.* That decision was upheld by the Court of Appeal. *Id.* at 15. Both lower courts decided this matter as a pure legal issue; their error now requires this Court's de novo review of this question of law. *Imperial Merch. Servs., Inc. v. Hunt*, 47 Cal. 4th 381, 387, 212 P.3d 736, 740 (2009) (holding that the Court's review of questions of statutory construction is de novo).

ARGUMENT

I. The decision below is contrary to the plain language of the regulation.

The plain language of 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) requires public housing authorities to exempt payments made to a family for the care of a developmentally disabled family member at home through programs such as California's In-Home Supportive Services program. In interpreting a statute or regulation, the Court must first "scrutinize the actual words of the statute, giving them a plain and commonsense meaning." *Gomez v. Superior Court*, 54 Cal. 4th 293, 300, 278 P.3d 1168, 1172 (2012) (citations omitted).

The developmental disability State payments regulation provides that public housing authorities must exclude the following from their calculation of a family's annual income:

Amounts paid by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home.

24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16).

There can be no question that the funds at stake in this case were "paid by a State agency," since In-Home Supportive Services is a state-wide program of the State of California. Nor can there be any question that the funds were paid "to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home." Marin Housing Authority does not dispute that Ms. Reilly's daughter has a severe developmental disability, nor does it dispute that she lives at home with her mother. It is likewise undisputed that Ms. Reilly's care qualifies as "services ... needed to keep the

developmentally disabled family member at home." The Court of Appeal acknowledged that Ms. Reilly's daughter "requires constant supervision" and qualifies for a State program for "individuals incapable of caring for themselves." *Reilly* at 1.

A plain reading of the language of the regulation also compels the conclusion that the State's In-Home Supportive Services payments are "to offset the cost" of those services needed to keep Ms. Reilly's daughter at home. Due to the severity of her daughter's developmental disability, the costs to Ms. Reilly of keeping her adult daughter at home, rather than sending her to an institution, are steep. Because her daughter needs "constant supervision," Ms. Reilly must provide care and oversight of her 24 hours a day.

Providing care and supervision of a person with a severe developmental disability in lieu of putting him or her in an institution is no light duty. It is all the more serious of an undertaking when one commits, as Ms. Reilly has done, to doing so all day, every day. Family caregivers for people with severe developmental disabilities sacrifice their own time, freedom, and energy to the goal of keeping their family member in the home. See, e.g., Henry G. Chambers & Jill A. Chambers, Effects of Caregiving on the Families of Children and Adults with Disabilities, 26 Physical Med. & Rehabilitation Clinics of N. Am. 1, 11 (2015), available at https://www.pmr.theclinics.com/article/S1047-9651(14)00101-6/pdf (last visited September 28, 2018) (recognizing that parents continuing to care for adult children with disabilities "can feel chronically exhausted, financially, physically and emotionally, from the years of direct caregiving and management of needs on multiple fronts with little time for self-care and adequate rest"); and Nancy P. Kropf & Roberta R. Greene, Life Review

with Families who Care for Developmentally Disabled Members: A Model, 21 J. Gerontological Soc. Work, 25, 29 (1993), available at https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/ssw_facpub/19/ (last visited September 28, 2018) (citing academic studies of the "multiple demands" faced by parents who continue to care for an adult child with a developmental disability). The payments that the State of California makes to such caregivers through the In-Home Supportive Services program offset – albeit incompletely – the very real costs to the family of providing such care.

The Court of Appeal's finding is premised on the idea that those costs are *not* real because they are incurred within the family rather than by third parties. With respect to Ms. Reilly, the Court found that, despite the fact that Ms. Reilly had committed herself to 24-hour care for her daughter, "the cost of services that Reilly provides to her daughter is, to Reilly, zero." *Reilly* at 10. "And because Reilly's services are free to the family, the family incurs no 'cost of services or equipment ...' that the [In-Home Supportive Services] payments could be said to offset." *Id*.

Such an interpretation belies the heavy load that Ms. Reilly and others who care for family members with severe developmental disabilities at home carry, particularly those whose care must be constant. The cost of the services that such people provide to their family is not "zero" to them. And the fact that the In-Home Supportive Services program authorizes payments to people who are caring for a family member in the same household is a tacit acknowledgement of that cost. What other justification could there be for the State to pay family members for their services, if not to offset what the State recognizes is a real cost to those individuals?

The dictionary definitions for "cost" and "offset" identified by the Court of Appeal are consistent with this plain language reading of the

regulation. The Court of Appeal acknowledged that "cost" may mean "a loss or penalty incurred esp[ecially] in gaining something," but that it can also mean "price." *Reilly* at 9. But it just as true to speak in terms of the *loss* of time and freedom that Ms. Reilly has incurred by committed to 24-hour care of her adult daughter as it is to say that this is the *price* she has paid for keeping her daughter at home. And as the Court of Appeal recognized, the word "offset" is no different: "To 'offset' means generally to counterbalance or compensate for something, not only to reimburse for out-of-pocket expenses previously incurred. (See *Steinmeyer v. Warner Cons. Corp.* (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 515, 518 [citing dictionary]." *Reilly* at 8 (citations in original).

The language of 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) means what it says: payments made by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home are to be excluded from a family's "annual income." The only way to find that payments received through the In-Home Supportive Services program do not qualify for this exemption is to read in a limitation (i.e., "offset the costs of services" must be reimbursement for financial expenses and not other costs) that has no support in the language itself.

II. The language of the regulation is explicit in cases where only reimbursements for financial expenses are excluded, and no such language appears in the developmental disability State payments exclusion.

The Court of Appeal erred in finding that the developmental disability State payments exclusion would cover only State payments to

offset "amounts of *money* that the Reilly family pays." *Reilly* at 11 (emphasis added). There is nothing in the language of the developmental disability State payments exclusion to limit its coverage to reimbursement for such out-of-pocket expenses. However, such limiting language *does* appear elsewhere in the surrounding regulation.

Subsection (c) of 24 C.F.R. § 5.609, where the developmental disability State payments exclusion appears, is a list of sixteen different types of payments to families that must be excluded from a public housing authority's calculation of "annual income." The language in the rest of the list is explicit in instances where only reimbursements for financial expenses may be exempted. Because no such language appears in the developmental disability State payments exclusion, no limitation to out-of-pocket payments may be read into it.

When a body drafting a statute or regulation "has employed a term or phrase in one place and excluded it in another, it should not be implied where excluded." *People v. Buycks*, 5 Cal. 5th 857, 880, 422 P.3d 531, 541 (2018) (citation omitted); *Scher v. Burke*, 3 Cal. 5th 136, 144–45, 395 P.3d 680, 685–86 (2017), as modified on denial of reh'g (Aug. 9, 2017) ("As a general rule, when the Legislature uses a term in one provision of a statute but omits it from another ... we generally presume that the Legislature did so deliberately, in order to convey a different meaning.") (citation omitted). In *Wasatch Property Management v. Degrate*, for instance, the California Legislature stated explicitly in the language of a bill that the reach of one section of the bill was limited to rent-controlled jurisdictions. 35 Cal. 4th 1111, 1118, 112 P.3d 647, 650 (2005), as modified (July 27, 2005). This Court declined to read a similar limitation into a different section of the bill, holding that "[h]ad the Legislature intended to also limit the scope of [the

latter section] in the same manner, it would have included similar language doing so." *Id*.

In this case, one of the other exclusions in the list covers payments to a family "specifically for or in reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred" for certain publicly assisted programs. 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(8)(iii) (emphasis added). Another exclusion addresses "[a]mounts received by the family that are specifically for, or in reimbursement of, the cost of medical expenses for any family member." 24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(4) (emphasis added). In other words, where only reimbursements for out-of-pocket expenses (i.e., situations where the family has to pay money, or would be obligated to pay money, to a third party) are covered, the regulation says so. It does it in plain language, using words such as "in reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses."

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