CASE No. S249593

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KERRIE REILLY

Petitioner and Appellant,

V.

MARIN HOUSING AUTHORITY

Respondent and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT FILED

OCT 2 9 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After the Decision of the Court of Appeal for the First Appellate District Division Two, No. A149918

Affirming the Judgment of the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Marin, Case No. CIV 1503896, Hon. Paul M. Haakenson

Marin Housing Authority Ilya Filmus, Esq. 4020 Civic Center Drive San Rafael, CA 94903

Tel: (415) 491-2525 Fax: (415) 472-2186

E-Mail: ilya.filmus@gmail.com

WFBM, LLP

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

for the first time that this court to construe her wages as some sort of reparations to her without citing to any authority to support this construction. As a policy matter, the Supreme Court "normally may not consider an issue that petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal. (Rules Ct, Rule 8.500(c); *Jimenez v. Sup. Ct (T.M. Cobb Co.)* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 473, 481.

It is undeniable that if appellant had not chosen to be employed under the IHSS program, and had instead sought employment outside the home, it would have been necessary to hire a third party caregiver to provide protective supervision and other personal services to enable her daughter to remain safely in a home placement. "The state pays the person providing the service, whether they are a family member or a third party." (*Reilly, supra,* at 793-94.) Clearly, the position is properly classified as employment, and remuneration for these services are wages paid to the person providing the services. They are only "costs" when paid to a third party.

B. Appellant's Employment Grievances Are Not Properly Before This Court.

Appellant complains that the state's compensation, under the IHSS program, is insufficient as it fails to pay her for the 24-hour care that she provides to her daughter and fails to compensate her for the "emotional cost" of caring for this child. However, the sufficiency and basis for her

compensation under this program is not properly before the court. There is no contention that respondent has ever been her employer or owed her any duty as an employer. Moreover, this contention was not raised below and is therefore waived. (*See, Badie v. Bank of America* (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 779, 784–785 (argument not supported with reasoned argument and citations to authority waived.)

III. HUD POLICIES PROMOTE SAFE, DECENT HOUSING AND SELF-SUFFICIENCY FOR FAMILIES CARING FOR DEVELOPMENTALLY DISABLED CHILDREN.

HUD's purpose is to provide a housing subsidy for low income families. The benefits are subject to means testing. Section 5.609 provides the definitions of income to enable the PHA to conduct this evaluation. It is these definitions that are at the heart of the appeal.

When engaging in statutory interpretation, the court begins by examining the text of the statute. As this court recently explained:

The language of the statute is [not considered] in isolation, but in the context of the statutory framework as a whole in order to determine its scope and purpose and to harmonize the various parts of the enactment. If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend. If the statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider other aids, such as the statute's purpose, legislative history, and public policy. Furthermore, we consider portions of a statute in the context of the entire statute and the statutory scheme of which it is a part, giving significance to every word, phrase, sentence, and part of an act in pursuance of the legislative purpose.

(City of San Jose v. Sup. Ct (Smith) (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608, 616-17 (internal citations omitted, emphasis added. ("San Jose").)

The Dyna-Med Court instructs similarly, heeding the court to first ascertain the intent of the Legislature so as to effectuate the purpose of the law:

In determining such intent, a court must look first to the words of the statute themselves, giving to the language its usual, ordinary import and according significance, if possible, to every word, phrase and sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose. A construction making some words surplusage is to be avoided.

(Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1386-87.) Dyna-med also instructs to consider the words "in context" and where various sections of the statute relate to the same subject, the words must be harmonized to the extent possible. (Id. at 1387.) Thus, under well accepted rules of statutory construction, "[t]he court turns first to the words themselves for the answer." (San Jose, supra, 2 Cal.5th at 617.) The court gives the words their plain, common place meaning and harmonizes them throughout the statute to arrive at a meaning that breathes life into the Legislature's intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the law. The same rules of construction apply to administrative rules as to statutes. (Exelon v. Local 15, Intern. Broth. of Elec. (7th Cir. 2012) 676 F.3d 566, 570.)

A. Nowhere Does Section 5.609 Exclude Income Such As That Earned By Appellant.

Although the focus of this litigation has been the meaning of "cost," understanding the meaning of the word "income" is essential to answer the question of whether respondent overstated her income when determining appellant's Section 8 eligibility.

Sections 5.609(a) and (b) provide expansive definitions of income which appellant ignores but which courts below did not. It defines as "income" wages and salaries, . . . and other compensation for personal services paid to the "family head." (24 C.F.R. § 5.609 (b)(1) (emphasis added.) As both the Trial Court and the Court of Appeal concluded, appellant's wages paid to her to provide services to her daughter, under the IHSS program, are income.

The entirety of section 5.609(c) identifies what is *not income*. Pertinent here is section 5.609(c)(16) which excludes from income calculations:

Amounts paid by a State agency to a family with a member who has a developmental disability and is living at home to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home.

(24 C.F.R. § 5.609(c)(16) (emphasis added.) Under well accepted rules of statutory construction stated above, "[t]he court turns first to the words themselves for the answer" and consider them in the context of the legislative purpose of the statute. (San Jose, supra, 2 Cal. 5th at 616-17.)

It is well recognized that the drafters of statutes and regulations discuss and revise the wording of the statute until it becomes precisely what they intend. (*Bialo, supra,* 95 Cal.App.4th at 76–77.) When doing so, the court should look at *all the words in the statute, giving each word its ordinary, everyday meaning.* (*Id.*) It should only deviate from the ordinary, everyday meaning of the words if the statute itself specifically defines the word to give it a special meaning, not applicable here. (*See id.*) In addition, the court should look at every word, phrase and sentence. "*A construction making some words surplusage is to be avoided.*" (*Dyna-Med, supra,* 43 Cal.3d at 1386-87.)

Here, when looking at the plain words of the regulation, the Court of Appeal observed, the ordinary, everyday meaning of the word "cost" is "the amount or equivalent paid or charged for something; price." (*Reilly, supra,* 23 Cal.App.5th at 435, *citing* Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dict. (10th ed. 2001) p. 262.) The court further reasoned that if cost means price, then the cost of services that appellant provides her daughter is "zero," and the family incurs no "cost of services." (*Id.*)

Since the language is clear, the court applied the plain, common sense meaning of the word which had the same meaning as the term or similar terms elsewhere in the regulation. The literal interpretation lead to common sense construction leading to the purpose of the regulation which was to determine the amount of income which should be included when

calculating appellant's Section 8 subsidy. In contrast, appellant's interpretation of cost as "an emotional cost" would not lead to an accurate mathematical calculation of her income. Instead, it would lead to an absurd result not intended by Congress. (See, San Jose, supra, 2 Cal.5th at 616-17.)

Similarly, the straightforward meaning of the word "offset" is "to counterbalance or compensate for something." (*Id.* at 433, *citing*Steinmeyer v. Warner Cons. Corp. (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 515, 518.) The court explained that for the purposes of "offset[ting] the cost of services, the payment must go to the same entity that incurs the cost of those services. Otherwise the payment does not counterbalance or compensate for the cost of services." This means that the costs these payments offset must be costs that the family itself incurs. (*Id.* at 434.)

This is the correct result and the evaluation can end here. Only if the meaning of the words is not clear, courts must take the second step and refer to the legislative history. (*Bialo, supra*, 95 Cal.App.4th at 76–77.) However, legislative history frequently speaks in generalities making it imprecise. (*Id.*) As the Trial Court and the Court of Appeal noted, the only indicia of legislative intent before the court, were statements set forth in the Federal Register which neither found illuminating. (*See*, 60 Fed. Reg. 17388, 17391-93 (April 5, 1995).) In fact, the discussion might even be considered circular in which case the "circularity strongly implies,

however, that the statutory terms have their ordinary meanings rather than unusual or technical meanings." (*Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corp. v. Catellus Development Corp.* (9th Cir. 1992) 976 F.2d 1338, 1341 (construing CERCLA.)

It is only after the first two steps fail to reveal a clear meaning, that the third and final step applies which is to "apply reason, practicality, and common sense to the language at hand. If possible, the words should be interpreted to make them workable and reasonable." (*Bialo, supra*, 95 Cal.App.4th at 76–77.) Here applying the plain meaning of the words, and all the words and phrases, have already achieved this result. Applying this standard "amounts paid by the state to a family . . . to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home" lends itself to only one reasoned, practical and common sense interpretation. The family must incur the cost. (24 C.F.R. § 5.609 (c)(16).) Whether the money is paid to enable the family to go out and hire services or reimbursed after the fact, these costs must be expenses that "would otherwise fall on the family." (*Id.* at 434.)

This result is not dissimilar from that reached by the Anthony Court, which is the only case on point currently known. (*Anthony v. Poteet Housing Authority* (5th Cir. 2009) 306 Fed.Appx. 98 (*Anthony*).)²¹ There,

²¹ The court is permitted to cite to this unpublished federal opinion as

plaintiff was employed by a state-funded non-profit agency to provide inhome care for her severely disabled son. She sought to have this income excluded from her Section 8 eligibility calculations which were used to calculate her portion of the subsidized rent. She argued that the individual services plan for her son had a cost, but the court observed that for Anthony, "they are free. She has no out-of-pocket expenses—"costs"—that must be reimbursed or "offset" by the state." (*Id.* at 102.) Characterizing the sums paid to plaintiff as income, the court admonished that the "courts should not interpret an agency regulation to thwart the statutory mandate it was designed to implement." (*Id.* at 101, *citing Jochum v. Pico Credit Corp. of Westbank, Inc.* (5th Cir.1984) 730 F.2d 1041.)

This reasoning is persuasive here as appellant makes the same argument regarding the regulation and rejected by both courts below, neither finding any support in the language of the regulation. The Trial Court found the reasoning in *Anthony* persuasive, concluding that like the plaintiff in that case, appellant had not incurred any out-of-pocket expenses that are being "offset" by the IHSS payment, concluding that she is paid for her services. (AA 412-413.) The court further reasoned that "if HUD had intended to exclude all amounts paid by a state agency to a family that has a developmentally disabled family member living at home there would have

persuasive authority. (Rules Civ.Proc., § 32.1, 28 U.S.C.)

been no reason to state in the regulation itself that such excluded amounts are paid "to offset the cost of services and equipment needed to keep the developmentally disabled family member at home[.] That language must have some meaning." (*Id.*) The Court of Appeal also found meaning in the phrase, adhering to the interpretive maxim that instructs us to construe a statute or regulation in a manner that gives meaning to every word or phrase if possible, concluding that the term "offset" and "cost" should be given their common and concrete meanings. (*Reilly, supra,* 23 Cal.App.5th at 734-736.)

Appellant urged that the courts below to ignore the words "to offset the cost of services" in order to have reached the result which she desires, ignoring the well accepted "cardinal rule of construction" instructs us to avoid "a construction making some words surplusage." (State of South Dakota v. Brown (1978) 20 Cal.3d 765, 776.) This was particularly bold in that these words are not extraneous. In fact, they are essential and removing these words changes the meaning of the regulation, which is appellant's intent, and does violence to the language and spirit of the statutory scheme carefully crafted by HUD to achieve its purpose of providing parity as between low income families facing a variety of challenging circumstances.

B. The term "Cost" Is Used Consistently Throughout Section 5.609.

1. Cost Is A Monetary Term

Appellant's argument that the word "cost of services" set for the in section 5.609(c) (16) is used differently than where stated elsewhere in the regulation is nonsense. Under the canon of statutory interpretation, "it is generally presumed that when a word is used in a particular sense in one part of a statute, it is intended to have the same meaning if it appears in another part of the same statute" and must be given the same meaning. (*People v. Valencia* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 347, 381, reh'g denied (Aug. 30, 2017).) In addition, statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible." (*Dyna–Med, Inc., supra* 43 Cal.3d at 1387.)

This guidance is instructive here. Section 5.609 (c)(16) unambiguously excludes "costs of services and equipment" required to keep the in-home placement viable. Similarly, section 5.609 (c)(4) unambiguously excludes the "cost' of medical care and section, and section 5.609 (c)(8) excludes amounts "specifically for or in reimbursement" of out-of-pocket expenses related to participating in a training program. (§ 5.609 (c)(8).) Further, section (b)(6)(B)(ii) (§ 5.609(b)(6)(B)(ii).) unambiguously uses to term "cost" to refer to "an amount of money paid, as in "the actual cost of shelter and utilities" for a welfare recipient. In fact,

wherever used in sections 5.609 and 5.611, the terms "cost,"
"reimbursement" relates to a monetary cost, nothing more or different.

Appellant's reliance on *Gomez* is misplaced as the facts are distinguishable. (*Gomez v. Sup. Ct (People)* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 293, 300.) *Gomez* evaluated two grants of authority in different parts of the statute.

One permits commissioners to "hear and determine" certain *ex parte* matters, while others permit a commissioner to hear and only report on other specified matters. (*Id.* at 304.) The court explained that through the use of different language in the two portions of the statute. Concluding the Legislature "knew exactly how to express itself," the Legislature made clear that it did not intend to limit a commissioner's authority under the one subdivision at issue as it had done in the other subdivisions. (*Id.*)

2. IHSS Payments Do Not Compensate For Emotional Costs

In the absence of any authority to support the resection of the regulation as appellant suggests, she now seeks the court to read into the meaning of the word "cost" additional words, not stated anywhere in the regulation, to support her claim that the meaning of the word encompasses the emotional costs in caring for her daughter. Appellant's tortured construction calls for this Court to ignore that she is a paid employee of the state and the earnings that she receives are income. Appellant presents no reasoned argument and cites to no authority that would require this court's

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